IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 91-4433

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS
MONDEE STRACENER,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Texas

Before SMTH and EMLIO M GARZA, Circuit Judges, and RAINEY,"
District Judge.

JERRY EE. SMTH, G rcuit Judge:

l.
Mondee Stracener was charged in six counts of a twel ve-count
indictment and was convicted of all six counts, and this court

affirmed his convictions. United States v. Dean, No. 86-2620

(Feb. 17, 1987) (per curiam (unpublished). Stracener then

presented a petition for wit of habeas corpus pursuant to 28

Di strict Judge of the Southern District of Texas, sitting by designa-
tion.



U S C 8§ 2255, arguing, inter alia, that he had received ineffec-

tive assistance of counsel, that the prosecutor's i nproper conments
warranted reversal, and that the governnent had failed to inform
him that the main wtness against him had been tenporarily
commtted to a nental institution. A magi strate recomended
partial relief, and the district court held that Stracener had
recei ved ineffective assi stance of counsel when his trial attorney
failed to object to jury instructions that all owed convictions for
ai ding and abetting aggravated bank robbery w thout requiring the
jury to find that Stracener had specifically aided and abetted the
aggravating elenent, in this case, use of a gun and ki dnappi ng.
The district court vacated Stracener's convictions on three counts
and resentenced himon the | esser included of fense of sinple bank
robbery.?

The district court adopted the magistrate's findings that the
prosecutor's comments did not violate his constitutional rights or
deprive him of a fair trial and that Stracener's allegations
concerning the witness's nental illness were unsupported by the
record. Stracener appeals the disposition of these three issues.

Finding no error, we affirm

1 The district court vacated the follow ng three convictions: (1) aiding
and abetting arned bank robbery in violation of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 2113(a) and (d)
and 18 U.S.C. 8 2 (count 6); (2) aiding and abetting ki dnapping in the course
of a bank robbery in violation of 18 U S.C. 88 2113(a) and (e) and 18 U. S.C

§ 2 (count 7); and (3) aiding and abetting carrying a weapon during the

commi ssion of a crinme of violence in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 924(c) and 18

U S.C. 8 2. These convictions could not stand because the jury was not
instructed to determ ne whether Stracener had the intent that a weapon be used
or that a kidnapping take place.



.
Rel ying upon United States v. M I anovich, 365 U S. 551 (1961),

Stracener contends that the resentencing procedure put himtwi ce in

| eopar dy. The defendant in Ml anovich was convicted of both

| arceny and receiving stolen property. The Court held that these
verdicts were inconsistent and reversed both convictions on the
ground that "there is no way of knowing whether a properly
instructed jury would have found the [defendant] guilty of |arceny
or of receiving (or, conceivably, of neither)." Id. at 555.
Stracener relies upon the Court's dicta to suggest that a correctly
instructed jury mght have acquitted him rather than finding him
guilty of sinple robbery. As pure dicta, the Court's parentheti cal
coment does not have binding force. Mreover, its reasoning has
been under m ned by subsequent cases.

This court consistently has held that M anovich does not

require a new trial when nultiple overlapping convictions create

doubl e jeopardy. United States v. Wite, 440 F.2d 978 (5th Cr.),

cert. denied, 404 U S. 839 (1971). Mor eover, when one of two

i nconsi stent verdicts nmust be struck for other reasons, the Suprene
Court has held that resentencing, not a new trial, is the proper

remedy. United States v. Gaddis, 424 U S. 544 (1975).

M I anovich applies only to inconsistent verdicts, not

over | appi ng ones. In Wiite, the defendant was convicted of
violating section 2113(a) (entering bank with intent to rob) and
section 2113(b) (larceny of bank). Since section 2113(b) was a

| esser included offense of section 2113(a), the counts overl apped



but were not inconsistent. This court held that therefore
M I anovich did not apply and that resentencing on one conviction

only was the proper renedy. See also United States v. Miri, 444

F.2d 240, 245-46 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 404 U'S. 913 (1971)

(resentencing appropriate where defendant was convicted of two
conspiracies that were found on appeal to be one).

In White, the defendant was convi cted and sent enced separately
for two of fenses, one of which was a | esser-included of the other.
In the instant case, Stracener was convicted of three aggravated
of fenses, which of necessity enconpassed any |esser-included
of fenses. Since the convictions on the aggravated offenses, but
not the |esser-included offense, were flawed, the district court
properly vacated the flawed convictions, entered judgnent on the
| esser-included offense, and resentenced the defendant. See Tapp
v. Lucas, 658 F.2d 383, 386 (5th Gr. Unit A Oct. 1981), cert.
deni ed, 456 U.S. 972 (1982).

When one of two i nconsistent verdicts nust be struck for other
reasons, resentencing is the proper renedy. In Gaddis, the
def endant s were convi cted of robbery and receiving stol en property.
No evidence was presented that the defendants received stolen
property, however. Although the verdicts were inconsistent, the
Court did not reverse both convictions. Instead, it sinply vacated
the conviction that was not supported by the evidence and the
sentence under that count.

The Court in Gddis found that resentencing did not usurp the

jury's role, because, in light of the insufficient proof, the jury



properly coul d have convi cted t he def endants on only one count. See

also United States v. Nelson, 574 F.2d 277, 282-83 (5th Cr.),

cert. denied, 439 U S. 956 (1978) (resentencing appropriate where

verdi cts inconsistent but jury note indicated jury's intent).
Simlarly, resentencing Stracener did not usurp the jury's role,
because, in light of the faulty instructions, the jury properly
coul d have convi cted Stracener only for sinple robbery in violation
of section 2113(a).

Stracener was convicted under count 6 of violating sections
2113(a) and 2113(d). The jury instructions describing a violation
of section 2113(d) were i naccurate, but the instructions descri bing
a violation of section 2113(a) were correct. Under Wite and

Gaddi s, the proper renedy is resentencing, not a newtrial.

L1,

After examning the record, we agree with the district court
that the prosecutor's coments, in light of the adnonitions by the
trial court, did not deny Stracener a fair trial. Finally,
Stracener's all egations concerning the witness's nental illness are
concl usory all egations not supported in the record and thus do not

rai se a constitutional issue. See Ross v. Estelle, 694 F.2d 1008,

1012 (5th Gir. 1983).
AFFI RVED.



